IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 15-1344
Polk County District Court No. LACL122849

SAMIR M. SHAMS,)
Plaintiff/Appellee,)
vs.)
SONA HASSAN,)
Defendant/Appellant.)
_____)
SONA HASSAN,)
Counterclaimant/Appellant,)
vs.)
SAMIR M. SHAMS,)
Counterclaimant Defendant/)
Appellee.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEANIE KUNKLE VAUDT

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Steven C. Reed
LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN C. REED
1741 Grand Avenue
West Des Moines, IA 50265
Telephone: (515) 224-1776
Fax: (515) 224-1891
Email: sreedlaw@gmail.com
ATTORNEY FOR SONA HASSAN

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF ERROR BY TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO GIVE INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY.

A. Standard of Review

Mulhern v. Catholic Health Initiatives, 799 N.W.2d 104, 110 (Iowa 2011)

Summy v. City of Des Moines, 708 N.W.2d 333, 340 (Iowa 2006)

State of Iowa v. Kevin DeShay Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 554 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Frej, 8331 N.W.2d 70, 73 (Iowa 2014)

Condon Auto Sales & Services, Inc. v. Crick, 604 N.W.2d 587, 593 (Iowa 1999)

Asher v. Ob-Gyn Specialists, P.C., 846 N.W.2d 492, 496 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Murray, 796 N.W.2d 907, 908 (Iowa 2011)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

B. Preservation of Error

Iowa Code Section 614.1(4)

II. IOWA STATUTE OF LIMITATION 614.1 OF THE CODE OF IOWA IS APPLICABLE TO IOWA CLAIMS OF BREACH OF ORAL CONTRACT, CONVERSION, FRAUD, AND BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY.

C. Legal Principles Governing Jury Instructions

Section 614.1 of the Code of Iowa

Hallet Construction Company vs. Meister, 713 N.W.2d 225, 231 (Iowa 2006)

Section 614.1(4) of the Code of Iowa

Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company v. Rowe, 424 N.W.2d 235, 243 (Iowa 1988)

Hallet Construction v. Meister, 7313 N.W.2d 225, 230-233 (Iowa 2006)

Harvey v. Leonard, 268 N.W.2d 504, 515 (Iowa 1978)

Sonnek vv. Warren 5522 N.W.2d 45, 47 (Iowa 1994)

Sanders v. Ghrist, 421 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1988)

Coker v. Abell-Howe Co., 491 N.W.2d 143, 150-151 (Iowa 1992)

Nicholas v. Schweitzer, 472 N.W.2d 266, 274 (Iowa 1991)

Peoples Memorial Hosp. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n., 322 N.W.2d 87, 91 (Iowa 1982)

Dubuque Community School Dist. v. PERB, 424 N.W.2d 427, 431 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 554 (Iowa 2015)

Hobbiebrunken v. G & S Enterprises, Inc., 470 N.W.2d 19, 21 (Iowa 1991)

Dotts v. Bennett, 382 N.W.2d 85, 90 (Iowa 1986)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.924

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because no basis exists for the Supreme Court to retain this case for appellate review, as provided by Iowa Appellate Procedure Rule 6.1101. Further, this case should be transferred because it involves questions that can be resolved by applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County on error by such court in its refusals to give jury instructions on an affirmative defense of Iowa's statute of limitations, under Section 614.1 of the Code of Iowa and adverse judgment against Sona Hassan on claims of Samir Shams.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 26, 2011, the Appellee-Plaintiff, Samir M. Shams, filed a petition in the Iowa District Court for Polk County against his sister, Sona Hassan, Appellant-Defendant. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial, filed 07/26/11, pp. 1-5). Samir Shams with his petition demanded a jury trial. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial filed 07/26/11, pp. 1-3). In his petition, Samir M. Shams alleged that there was an oral agreement between himself and his sister wherein he would put money in a checking account and Sona Hassan would draw money out of his account upon his direction while he was in Iraq. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial filed 07/26/11, pp. 1-3). Samir alleged the agreement began in January, 2003, and concluded when Samir returned from Iraq. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial filed 07/26/11, pp. 1-2). In the trial Samir Shams stated he returned to United States, specifically Maryland, in May, 2006. (Trial Transcript Volume 2, p. 85, lines 14-20, p. 114, lines 7-24,

p. 115, lines 1-25, p. 116, lines 1-25, p. 117, lines 1-25, p. 139, lines 1-8, p. 144, lines 1-25; Trial Transcript Volume VII, p. 928, lines 7-25, p. 929, line 1).

The petition of Samir Shams alleged that when he returned from Iraq he asked for his money back and Sona Hassan did not return his money. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial filed 07/26/11, pp. 1-3). Samir Shams alleged in his petition against Sona the following counts: Breach of Oral Agreement; Conversion, Fraud, Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Bad Faith. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial filed 07/26/11, pp. 1-6).

Sona Hassan, who lived in and resides in Maryland, in response to Samir Hassan's petition, filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 1.421. (Trial Transcript Volume 2, p. 57, lines 12-20; Motion to Dismiss). The Iowa District Court for Polk County granted the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction, from which Samir appealed. (Shams vs. Hassan, 822 N.W.2d 746 (Iowa App. 2012)). The Iowa Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the District Court, but upon review, the Supreme Court of Iowa reversed the District and the Court of Appeals and remanded the case back to the Iowa District Court for Polk County. (Shams v. Hassan, 829 N.W.2d 848 (Iowa 2013)).

Subsequently, an Answer was filed by Sona Hassan, denying material allegations of the petition and asserting affirmative defenses of statute of

limitations of Iowa, estoppel, waiver, laches and lack of mutuality of contract. (Answer of Defendant, filed 05/15/13, pp. 1-6).

After discovery, Sona Hassan filed on July 7, 2014, her Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that Samir Shams, in his deposition, admitted he returned to Maryland, residence of Sona Hassan, from Iraq in May, 2006. (Sona's Motion for Summary Judgment with deposition excerpts attached to such Motion filed July 7, 2014). In such, Sona Hassan stated Samir Shams declared he was a resident of Maryland, and that Iowa's statute of limitations barred his action filed in Iowa District Court on July 26, 2011. (Sona's Motion for Summary Judgment with deposition excerpts attached to such Motion filed July 7, 2014). The presiding District Court Judge on September 12, 2014, denied Sona Hassan's Motion for Summary Judgment and stated that "opposing statement [of the parties] assert genuine issues of material fact that a jury must sort out." (Judge's Order denying Sona's Motion for Summary Judgment, filed 09/12/14).

On September 12, 2014, such District Court granted Sona Hassan's written Motion to Amend her Answer to include the affirmative defenses that Samir failed to mitigate any damages and to add Sona's counterclaims of slander and libel against Samir. (Judge's Order granting Sona's Motion to Amend, p. 3).

On March 30, 2015, the jury trial on Samir's claims and the claims of Sona was commenced. (Trial Transcript, Volume 1, p. 1).

Sona submitted to the Court proposed jury instructions on the affirmative defense of Iowa's statute of limitation, Section 614.1 of the Code of Iowa and supporting authority to the counts of oral contract, conversion, fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. (Court's Exhibit "A"). Instructions on a claim of bad faith was not submitted by any party or the Court. (Statement of the Case and Instructions of the Court, filed April 13, 2015). The District Court refused to submit any jury instructions on Iowa's statute of limitations. (Trial Transcript Volume X, p. 1284, lines 23-25, p. 1285, lines 1-10). The Court denied request of Sona to submit jury instructions on the defense of statute of limitation because none was contained in the Iowa Civil Jury Instructions of the Iowa State Bar Association, though Sona's counsel proposed alternative draft for consideration in formation by the trial court for instructions to the jury. (Trial Court Exhibit "A").

On April 13, 2015, the jury returned a verdict against Sona on Samir's claims of conversion, breach of fiduciary duty and breach of oral contract and a verdict against Samir on Sona's claim of libel per se by Samir. (Jury Verdict filed April 13, 2015). Samir has not appealed from the findings and subsequent judgment against him on Sona's claim of libel per se by Samir.

On April 27, 2016, Sona filed with the District Court for Polk County, separate motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict against her and a motion for a new trial on the specific ground that the trial court declined to give instructions to the jury on Iowa's statute of limitations under Section 614.1 of the Code of Iowa on the counts of oral contract, conversion, common law fraud and breach of fiduciary duty to be used by the jury in their deliberations. (Defendant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict and Request for Hearing filed April 27, 2015, pp. 1-4; Defendant's Motion for New Trial and Request for Hearing filed April 27, 2015, pp. 1-3).

On May 13, 2015, the trial court entered judgment entry against the parties, in which judgment was entered in favor of Sona Hassan against Samir Shams in the sum of \$14,566.25 in compensatory damages and \$15,000.00 in punitive damages plus interest and 17% of the court costs. (Judgment Entry filed May 13, 2015, pp. 1-3). By such order, the District Court entered judgment in favor of Samir Shams against his sister, Sona Hassan, in the sum of \$148,501.60 plus interest and 83% of the court costs. (Judgment Entry filed May 13, 2015, pp. 1-3).

On July 14, 2015, by order the Court denied both Samir's and Sona's separate Motions for New Trial and for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. (Order filed July 14, 2015, pp. 1-6).

Samir did not file a Notice of Appeal to the judgment and rulings of the Iowa District Court for Polk County.

Sona filed and served her Notice of Appeal on August 11, 2015, from the final order of the trial court on July 14, 2015. (Notice of Appeal filed August 11, 2015).

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF ERROR BY TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO GIVE INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY.

A. Standard of Review

The failure of a trial court to give a proper jury instruction is generally a review for error at law. Mulhern v. Catholic Health Initiatives, 799 N.W.2d 104, 110 (Iowa 2011); Summy v. City of Des Moines, 708 N.W.2d 333, 340 (Iowa 2006).

As stated in State of Iowa v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 554 (Iowa 2015): “We review challenges to jury instructions for correction of errors at law.’ State v. Frej, 831 N.W.2d 70, 73 (Iowa 2014); see *also* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907. ‘Error in jury instructions is reversible only if the error is prejudicial.’ Condon Auto Sales & Serv., Inc. v. Crick, 604 N.W.2d 587, 593 (Iowa 1999). ‘Errors in jury instructions are presumed prejudicial unless ‘the record affirmatively establishes there was no prejudice.’ Asher v. Ob-Gyn Specialists,

P.C., 846 N.W.2d 492, 496 (Iowa 2014) (quoting *State v. Murray*, 796 N.W.2d 907, 908 (Iowa 2011)).”

B. Preservation of Error

Sona raised the issues of Iowa’s statute of limitations specifically, Iowa Code Section 614.1(4), after her previous motion for summary judgment by motion for directed verdict after Samir rested his case in chief (Trial Transcript Volume 3, p. 271, lines 9-25, p. 272, lines 1-5, p. 273, lines 1-25, p. 274, lines 1-5) and at the conclusion of the testimony in the case in chief (Trial Transcript Volume VIII p. 1065, lines 20-25, p. 1066, lines 1-25, p. 1067, lines 1-25, p. 1068, lines 1-25, p. 1069, lines 1-8) which motions were denied by the trial court.

Sona requested at the trial, a jury instruction on her affirmative defense that the claims of Samir were barred by Iowa’s statute of limitations, specifically 614.1 which the court refused to instruct on such defense (Trial Transcript Volume X, p. 1284, lines 23-25, p. 1285, lines 1-10).

Sona, in her post-trial motions for a new trial and judgment notwithstanding the verdict, timely raised and renewed again the error of law by the trial court. There has been preservation of the error at law for appellate review.

II. IOWA STATUTE OF LIMITATION 614.1 OF THE CODE OF IOWA IS APPLICABLE TO IOWA CLAIMS OF BREACH OF ORAL CONTRACT, CONVERSION, FRAUD, AND BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY.

Section 614.1 of the Code of Iowa, operable at all times material to this case states:

Actions may be brought within the times herein limited, respectively, after their causes, accrue, and not afterwards, except when otherwise specifically declared:

* * * *

4. *Unwritten contract – injuries to property – fraud – other actions. Those founded on unwritten contracts, those brought for injuries to property, or for relief on the ground of fraud in cases heretofore solely cognizable in a court of chancery, and all other actions not otherwise provided for in this respect, within five years, except as provided by subsections 8 and 10.*

Claims of alleged fraud and breach of oral contract filed more than five (5) years from the alleged breach of duty are barred by such statute.

In Hallet Construction Company vs. Meister, 713 N.W.2d 225, 231 (Iowa 2006), the Supreme Court of Iowa held that claims of alleged fraud and breach of oral contract were barred by the statute of limitations, Section 614.1(4) of the Code of Iowa, and stated “*a claimant can be on inquiry notice without knowing the details of the evidence by which to prove the cause of action.*”

The statute of limitations for an alleged breach of fiduciary duty is five years under Iowa Code Section 614.1(4). Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company

v. Rowe, 424 N.W.2d 235, 243 (Iowa 1988). The statute of limitations for a claim of fraud is five years. Hallet Construction v. Meister, 713 N.W.2d 225, 230-233 (Iowa 2006). See also Harvey v. Leonard, 268 N.W.2d 504, 515 (Iowa 1978). The statute of limitations for an oral contract is five years as clearly set forth in Iowa Code Section 614.1(4). As for a claim of conversion of one's property the statute of limitations is five (5) years. Section 614.1 of the Code of Iowa (2011). All other claims of Samir are barred after five years of breach under Section 614.1(4) of the Code, which states: "*and all other actions not otherwise provided for in this respect, within five years, except as provided by subsections 8 and 10.*"

Samir at trial testified in May, 2011 he returned to Maryland from Iraq to Sona's residence and requested an accounting of the money disbursed from his checking account. (Petition and Demand for Jury, pp. 1-3). Samir further testified that in June, 2006, he traveled to his brother's residence in Arizona where he picked up his bank statements and had access to cancelled checks from his Bankers Trust Co. checking account, the checking account which is the subject of the suit by him against Sona. (Trial Transcript Volume 2, p. 114, lines 7-24, p. 115, lines 1-25, p. 116, lines 1-25, p. 117, lines 1-25, p. 139, lines 108, p. 144, lines 1-25).

The record clearly shows that Samir, no later than June, 2006, was on notice if there were any unauthorized disbursements by Sona, his sister, which

would be the alleged basis for his claims. (Trial Transcript Volume 2, p. 144, lines 1-25).

Samir did not file his petition in the Iowa District Court for Polk County until July 26, 2011, clearly more than five (5) years after he was on notice of the alleged breaches. (Petition and Demand for Jury Trial filed 07/26/11, p. 1).

Parties to lawsuits are entitled to have their legal theories submitted to a jury if they are supported by the pleadings and substantial evidence in the record, as stated in Sonnek v. Warren, 522 N.W.2d 45, 47 (Iowa 1994); citing Sanders v. Ghrist, 421 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1988).

It is the trial court's duty to see that a jury has a clear and intelligent understanding of what is to decide. When weighing sufficiency of evidence to support a requested instruction, the Court should construe the evidence in a light most favorable to the party seeking submission. Coker v. Abell-Howe Co., 491 N.W.2d 143, 150-151 (Iowa 1992).

As stated in Nicholas v. Schweitzer, 472 N.W.2d 266, 274 (Iowa 1991):
“The test is whether there is substantial evidence to support the instruction submitted. The possibility that two inconsistent conclusions might be drawn from the same evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence. Peoples Memorial Hosp. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n., 322 N.W.2d 87, 91 (Iowa 1982). Evidence is substantial when a reasonable

mind could accept it as adequate to reach a conclusion. Dubuque Community School Dist. v. PERB, 424 N.W.2d 427, 431 (Iowa 1988).”

As Justice Wiggins said in his concurring opinion in State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 562 (Iowa 2015):

“The court does not have to give an instruction just because it appears in the Iowa State Bar Association’s instruction manual. The court must guarantee defendants a fair trial and not overemphasize the State’s case.

I also disagree with the statement that “[n]ormally, we are slow to disapprove of the uniform jury instruction.” First, we do not have a “uniform jury instructions” approved by our court. A committee of the Iowa State Bar Association writes the instructions. The president of the bar association appoints the committee members. We do not have any oversight over the process. Second, we never intended the bar association’s instructions to have a presumption of correctness. As we said in a resolution regarding the instructions,

“Under Iowa law any jury instructions might be challenged in the usual manner on appeal to this court. That right of review on the part of future litigants precludes us from considering the Plain English Redraft Instructions for official approval or disapproval. We nevertheless note this newest contribution of the committee with a deep sense of appreciation and satisfaction.”

Iowa Supreme Ct. Resolution, *In the Matter of the Iowa State Bar Association Uniform Court Instruction Committee* (May 6, 1987).

Conversely, just because there is not located a stock jury instruction such does not obviate the duty of the trial court to instruct the jury on the theories of the parties.

As stated in Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.924:

“The court shall instruct the jury as to the law applicable to all material issues in the case”

“It is reversible error for a court to refuse to give a requested instruction that defines a critical term necessary for resolution of the case,” as stated in Hobbiebrunken v. G & S Enterprises, Inc., 470 N.W.2d 19, 21 (Iowa 1991); citing Dotts v. Bennett, 382 N.W.2d 85, 90 (Iowa 1986).

CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the district court’s judgment for its failure to give required jury instructions and remand for a new trial and/or further proceedings.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Counsel for Appellant respectfully requests to be heard in oral argument upon submission of this case.