IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SAMIR M. SHAMS,

Appellee,

vs.

SONA HASSAN,

Appellant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

S.C. NO. 15-1344

APPEAL FROM
THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEANIE KUNKLE VAUDT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Andrew B. Howie, AT0003716
HUDSON, MALLANEY, SHINDLER
& ANDERSON, P.C.
5015 Grand Ridge Drive, Suite 100
West Des Moines, Iowa 50265
515-223-4567; Fax: 515-223-8887
ahowie@hudsonlaw.net
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

Argument

1. Standard of review and preservation of error on Hassan's alleged error in the district court's failure to give a jury instruction proffered by Hassan.

Notably, Hassan does *not* allege error in the district court's denial of her motion for summary judgment, motion for directed verdict, motion for new trial, or motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict which all asserted that Shams' claims were time-barred under the applicable statute of limitations. Rather, Hassan asserts the district court erred by failing to give an instruction to the jury regarding the applicable statute of limitations. Appellate review of a challenge to jury instructions is for errors of law. *Anderson v. Webster City Community Sch. Dist.*, 620 N.W.2d 263, 265 (Iowa 2000); *see* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907. Hassan preserved the error by offering a proposed instruction, and the district court refused to permit the instruction before the court gave the instructions to the jury. (Tr. 1280:9-1285:14; App. at 211); *see Lockard v. Carson*, 278 N.W.2d 871, 873 (Iowa 1980).

2. The district court did not err by refusing to give Hassan's proposed instruction regarding the statute of limitations.

An error in refusing to give jury instructions does not warrant reversal without prejudice to the complaining party. *Thavenet v. Davis*, 589 N.W.2d 233,

236 (Iowa 1999). Prejudice results when the trial court's instruction materially misstates the law, confuses or misleads the jury, or is unduly emphasized. *Anderson*, 620 N.W.2d at 268 (citing 88 C.J.S. *Trials* §§ 371, at 950); see *Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co.*, 572 N.W.2d 565, 575 (Iowa 1997)). Instructions are not considered in isolation, rather the appellate court considers the instructions in their entirety and will not reverse if the instructions have not misled the jury. *Thavenet* at 236. Further, appellate courts "will not reverse for marginal or technical omissions, but the instructions must thoroughly and fairly convey the law applicable to the issues presented." *Sonnek v. Warren*, 522 N.W.2d 45, 47 (Iowa 1994).

In her brief, Hassan argues the district court erred by failing to give the jury a specific instruction as offered in Court Exhibit A. (App. at 211.) Hassan argues she was entitled to the instruction because there were disputed facts as to when Shams discovered Hassan's wrongdoing. (*See generally* Br. arg. II.) Citing the five-year statute of limitations per Iowa Code section 614.1(4) (2015), Hassan claims the court should have instructed the jury to consider that Shams learned of Hassan's wrongdoing in June 2006, and, as the argument goes, because Shams did not file suit until July 2011, Shams' claim is time-barred. However, Hassan's proffered jury instruction, (Court Ex. A), is misleading and

misstates established law because the instruction failed to provide information on the discovery rule.

A key component of when the statute of limitations begins to run is when a plaintiff discovers the facts giving rise to the claim.

The discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations until the plaintiff has discovered ““the fact of the injury and its cause”” or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered these facts. [*K & W Elec., Inc. v. State*, 712 N.W.2d 107, 116 (Iowa 2006)] (citation omitted); *see also Nixon v. State*, 704 N.W.2d 643, 646 (Iowa 2005) (applying discovery rule to claim of fraudulent misrepresentation). Once a claimant learns information that would inform a reasonable person of the need to investigate, the claimant “is on inquiry notice of all facts that would have been disclosed by a reasonably diligent investigation.” *K & W Elec., Inc.*, 712 N.W.2d at 117 (citation omitted). A claimant can be on inquiry notice without knowing “the details of the evidence by which to prove the cause of action.” *Vachon v. State*, 514 N.W.2d 442, 446 (Iowa 1994).

Hallett Const. Co. v. Meister, 713 N.W.2d 225, 231 (Iowa 2006). The discovery rule applied to Shams’ claims. *See id.* Despite the discovery rule applying here, Hassan insisted on giving a misleading instruction, particularly:

A claim for oral contract, conversion, fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty, based on acts or occurrences that took place more than 5 years before the date is barred by the statute of limitation. You must decide when each act or occurrence on which bases his claim occurred. If any of these acts or occurrences took place more than 5 years before the plaintiff brought suit, then a claim based on that act or occurrence is barred by the statute of limitation.

(Court Ex. A (App. at 211.)) The instruction never mentions when Shams may have discovered “each act or occurrence on which bases his claim occurred”. Hassan was not entitled to have the court give the jury a misleading instruction – it is reversible error if the instruction misleads or confuses the jury or otherwise misstates Iowa law. See *Hendricks & Cooper v. Wallis*, 7 Clarke 224, 230-32 (Iowa 1858) (holding that a jury instruction given by the court that misrepresented Iowa’s law on the applicable statute of limitations justified a new trial); see *Brenneman Martin & Co. v. Edwards*, 55 Iowa 374, 7 N.W. 621, 622 (1880) (reversing trial court for a “clearly erroneous” jury instruction on the statute of limitations). Considering Hassan’s instruction, the district court expressly found as one of the grounds to reject it was the instruction’s failure to “include the discovery rule.” (App. at 202-203; see Tr. 1284:9-1285:10.)

Finally, Hassan coats her argument in general vague propositions that she was “entitled to have [her] legal theories submitted to the jury if they are supported by the pleadings and substantial evidence” but she fails to cite any authority that she was entitled to this specific instruction regarding the statute of limitations in this case. (Appellant’s Br. 10 (citing *Sonnek v. Warren*, 522 N.W.2d

45, 47 (Iowa 1994)). *Sonnek* had nothing to do with the statute of limitations.² *See generally Sonnek*, 522 N.W.2d at 47-48 (concerning whether the trial court properly denied an instruction on “proper lookout” in a negligence claim based on a car accident)). Whether a plaintiff’s claim is time-barred by the statute of limitations is a legal issue to be decided by the court, not the jury. *See Gabelmann v. NFO, Inc.*, 571 N.W.2d 476, 481 (Iowa 1997). Hassan offered no legal authority, other than a Connecticut case (which there is no citation in the trial record), that the statute of limitations was a jury question. Further, the error raised by Hassan in her appeal is the claim that the court should have given her proffered instruction. Any argument that another instruction should have been given is not properly preserved for appellate review. *Lockard*, 278 N.W.2d at 873 (“Objections to instructions must be sufficiently specific to alert the trial

² In *Sonnek*, after the jury ruled in favor of the defendant, the unsuccessful plaintiffs argued on appeal that the trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury about the defendant’s failure to maintain a “proper lookout” and duty to avoid a collision. *See id.* Specifically, the plaintiffs claimed the jury instruction “omitted a proposition of Iowa law which they were entitled to have the jury consider[, and to] omit this from the instruction, they assert, scuttled their case because that was the essence” of their claim. *Sonnek*, 522 N.W.2d at 47-48. The *Sonnek* Court disagreed holding the requested instruction “departed from the concept[s] . . . adopted in the uniform instruction and by our cases.” 522 N.W.2d at 49.

court to the basis of complaint so that, if error does exist, the court may correct it before placing the case in the hands of the jury.”); *see Meier v. Seneca*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.”).

Conclusion

The district court did not err in refusing to give the specific jury instruction Hassan offered. This court should affirm.

Request for Oral Argument

Counsel for Appellee respectfully requests to be heard in oral argument upon submission of this case.